Brigham Young University Law School BYU Law Digital Commons

Utah Supreme Court Briefs (1965 –)

1977

In the matter of the Application for Admission to the Utah State Bar of Deborah Lynn Tanner: Petitioner's Brief

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF THE KIND OF CASE

This is an application for admission to the Utah State $\mbox{\mbox{\it Bar.}}$

DISPOSITION IN LOWER COURT

Petitioner took the 1977 (summer) Bar Examination and, upon receiving notice from the Utah State Bar that she had failed, requested a review of that decision which was subsequently sustained by the Board of Bar Commissioners.

RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

Petitioner seeks an order from this Court granting her Petition for Admission to the Utah State Bar.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

In July, 1977, Petitioner took the Utah State Bar examination. Subsequently, she was informed that she allegedly had failed to pass the examination for the sole reason that she had received passing scores in only nine (rather than the minimum of 12) of the 18 essay questions. She received two scores of 59. Petitioner's average was 60.75, sufficient for a passing score, which was above at least one successful applicant.

On or about October 7, 1977, Petitioner timely filed her Petition for Review with the Board of Commissioners. From October 13, 1977 until the hearing by the Review Board, limited discovery was permitted by the Utah State Bar.

On January 6, 1978, a hearing was begun but one of the three members of the Review Board was disqualified because of his prior participation in the bar examination process. A second hearing was scheduled for and heard on January 12, 1978.

On February 3, 1978 the Board of Bar Commissioners denied Petitioner's claim.

On March 2, 1978, Petitioner timely filed a Notice of Appeal with this Court requesting that her Petition for Admission to the Utah State Bar be granted.

ARGUMENT

POINT I.

THE PETITION SHOULD BE GRANTED BECAUSE HER WEIGHTED AVERAGE OF 60.75 FOR THE ENTIRE EXAMINATION WAS ABOVE THE HISTORICAL MINIMUM OF 60.00, AND ABOVE AT LEAST ONE SUCCESSFUL APPLICANT WHO TOOK THE SAME EXAMINATION.

Petitioner received a Multi-State Converted Score of 62.82 and an essay average score of 59.72 for a weighted average for the entire examination of 60.75, well above the 60.00 minimum passing score historically required for passing the bar examination. Interestingly enough, this score exceeds the weighted average (60.74) of at least one successful applicant and is very close to the weighted average of at least three other successful applicants, namely, 60.77, 60.81 and 60.96.

Historically, a minimum of 60.00 has always been required for successful passage of the Utah State Bar Examination. The combining of the scores of the multi state examination and the essay examination include all of the safe guards necessary to insure that competency in the profession is maintained. That Petitioner's score exceeds the 60.00 historical minimum score should be sufficient.

In addition, because Petitioner's weighted average exceeds the weighted average of the successful applicant

who passed the examination with the lowest weighted average, the Petition should be granted along the same line of reasoning this Court used <u>In Re Guyon</u>, P.2d (Utah, 1977) in granting the petitions for admission of five applicants who took the 1976 examination there, the Court stated:

It is our opinion that it would be unreasonable under all of the circumstances attendant upon the grading procedures of this July 1976 examination not to allow all student applicants to be admitted to the Utah State Bar who received an overall passing score equal to or above the combined score of the student applicant that received the lowest passing score of all one hundred and forty-five applicants who passed this July 1976 examination.

Petitioner submits that this analysis is the proper standard for review which should be made applicable here.

eventhough its findings are short on this point - is that Petitioner should not be admitted to practice because she did not satisfactorily pass 12 out of the 18 essay quesions. Petitioner submits that the additional requirement that an applicant receive a passing score of 60.00 on at least 12 of the 18 essay questions is inconsistent with the primary, basic requirement of requiring a minimum weighted average of 60.00 on the entire examination. Because all of the scores of the multi state examination and the essay examinations are computed in the weighted average, the additional 12/18 requirement is unnecessary, duplicatious and arbitrary and capricious, and effectively raises the

requirement for passage to 66.67%, a result which this Court certainly never contemplated. To argue that the 12/18 requirement insures general proficiency is without merit, particularly since in the past applicants have been admitted who have passed 11, 10,9 and 8 of the essay questions.

The results of this particular bar examination demonstrate the frivolity of this procedure. First, one applicant who failed and five applicants who passed the examination had passing scores on the exact minimum of 12 of the 18 essay questions; second, three applicants who failed the examination had average essay scores of 60.28, 60.56 and 61.06; and third, four applicants who failed the examination had weighted averages which exceeded the minimum required of 60.00, namely, 60.32, 60.75, 61.89 and 62.84.

In conclusion, the 12/18 requirement bears no rational relationship to the primary basic requirement of receiving a minimum weighted average of 60.00 on the entire examination, and, therefore, is capricious and arbitrary. Because Petitioner's average of 60.75 exceeds the minimum weighted average of 60.00 and is, further, above the weighted average of at least one successful applicant, her petition should be granted.

POINT II.

THE PETITION SHOULD BE GRANTED BECAUSE SOME OF THE MODEL ANSWERS CONTAIN ERRONEOUS STATEMENTS OF LAW, INCORRECT TOPICAL LISTING OF ISSUES AND POOR LEGAL ANALYSIS, ALL OF WHICH RESULTED IN GROSSLY UNFAIR ANALYSIS AND SCORING OF PETITIONER'S EXAMINATION WHICH WOULD NOT HAVE OCCURRED HAD THE EXAMINATION BEEN PROPERLY PREPARED AND ADMINISTERED.

Utah Code Annotated §78-51-10 (1953) provides that

applicants for admission must pass a "satisfactory examination". To the extent that the 1977 (summer) examination contained poorly structured and reviewed essay questions, the examination violated the requirements of this provision. In any event essay questions are at best an imperfect tool for determination competency. The prior state examination for which the petitioner received a score of 62.82 is a much more broad-based and professionally administered examination, and should be given more weight.

Petitioner submits that there are at least six essay examination questions which are defective and, had they been fairly and evenly administered, petitioner would have successfully passed the bar examination. Each of those questions is examined below.

No. 34 - Civil Procedure - Score 55

This particular question contains four errors in law and legal analysis.

First, the motion to dismiss for insufficiency of process although a possibility -- cannot be said to be reasonably based upon the given statement of facts. To list this as a potential motion is error without more definitive facts upon which such a motion could be premised. Petitioner did not discuss this as a possible motion and was correct in failing to do so.

Second, the suggestion that a motion for change of venue:
be made if two other motions failed, or, alternatively, could
be asserted in an answer, is an incorrect statement of the
law in Utah. In Rudd v. Crown International, 488 P.2d. 298

(Utah, 1971), this court made it very clear that a motion for a change of venue must be made at the first appearance. The model answer's legal analysis of the venue problem is in direct confict with the law of this state. Again, Petitioner did not commit these errors outlined in the model answer.

Third, the statement in the model answer that statutes of limitation are, technically speaking, matters of defense rather than matters commonly raised by motions is an incorrect statement of the law. The Utah Rules of Civil Procedure are flexible enough to allow either method to be utilized.

Fourth, the question asked the same question in two different ways which, because petitioner did not complete the second part, gives the impression that 50% of the question was not fully answered. The first part asked what motions could be filed and the second requested an outline of a responsive pleading to the complaint (which might, also, be a motion anyway). The second question was, therefore, duplicatious and superfluous; petitioner should not have been penalized for failing to complete the second part of the question.

In addition, it is interesting to note that on this particular question, there were 29 failing scores and 36 scores of 60.00, for a total of approximately 40% scores which were either failing or borderline. This percentage indicates further the poor structure of the question.

No. 62 - Administrative Law - Score 59

This particular question contains one glaring error - the model answer resembles a table of contents of a textbook

as distinguished from a reasonable breakdown of precise, definitive legal issues. It is virtually impossible for an examiner to evaluate an answer with such a cursory topical out! Close scrutiny of the eight issues listed in the model answer at discloses that six of them are not even issues, but are rather propositional topics of law applicable to administrative hearing generally. With these monumental mistakes, Petitioner's score of based upon four typewritten pages should certainly be raised to give her a passing score on this question.

In addition, it is interesting to note that on this partic question, there were 18 failing scores, 31 scores of 60.00 and 1 scores of 61.00, all of which indicates that approximately 40% either failed or had borderline scores on this question. This percentage is further evidence of the unsatisfactory nature of the model answer.

No. 12 - Evidence - Score 59

The model answer for this particular question indicates that it is a very complex, technical essay question; it is unquestionably too broad to be a good question. That there were 18 failing scores, 31 scores of 60.00 and 14 scores of 61.00 for a total of failing/borderline responses of 40% for this quest also certainly augments petitioner's petition. Her answer does not deserve a score one point shy of passing.

No. 11- Agency- Score 54 [or 55]

Petitioner's answer to this question appears to be a pretty good answer. That there were 15 failing scores and 23

scores of 60.00 for a total of approximately 25% which were either failing or borderline scores is further evidence that it, too, was poorly worded and included too many issues.

No. 45 - Ethics - Score 55

Petitioner was one of only two applicants who failed this question and her score was the lowest; there were 142 scores of 70.00 or higher. Petitioner's answer appears to discuss most of the issues involved and it is difficult to understand how her three type-written pages are inadequate.

No. 23 - Civil Procedure - Score 55

Petitioner's answer to this technical question appears passable. In addition, that there were 22 failing scores, 52 scores of 60.00 and 27 scores of 61.00 or 62.00, for a total of approximately 60% which resulted in either failures or borderline passing, also calls for reevaluation of the Petitioner's answer.

These six questions should all be reevaluated by this Court.

These six essay questions are inadequate legally and factually to support the position of the Board of Bar Commissioners.

POINT III

THE PETITION SHOULD IN THE ALTERNATIVE BE REMANDED TO THE BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS WITH DIRECTIONS FOR IT TO PRODUCE CERTAIN RELEVANT AND ESSENTIAL DOCUMENTATION AND TO PREPARE MORE ADEQUATE FINDINGS REGARDING THIS PETITION, PARTICULARLY AS THEY RELATE TO THE SIX ESSAY QUESTIONS ATTACKED BY PETITIONER.

After timely filing her Petition for Review with the Utah State Bar, Petitioner requested in writing on October 13, 1977 and December 6, 1977 certain relevant and essential documentation regarding her Petition. Petitioner submits that the Committee of Bar Examiner's and Bar Counsel's failure to make the requested information available to Petitioner should be construed against the Committee's decision that Petitioner failed the bar examination, and that this Petition should be remanded with instructions to turn over and release that information to Petitioner.

Specifically, Petitioner requested the following informat: and documentation:

- (a) A description of how the multi-state and essay examination scores were correlated on the results of the last several years.
- (b) The essay examination answers of all applicants for each of the nine bar examination essay questions Petitioner allegedly failed.
- (c) The minutes, memorandums, responses and similar documents of both the Board of Commissioners of the Utah State Bar and the <u>ad hoc</u> Bar Examination Commission regarding the weighing to be given the multi-state and essay examinations. None of these documents has been supplied to Petitioner to assist her in preparing her appeal.

Petitioner submits that all of the requested information is relevant to her Petition and the failure to provide that information should be construed against the Board of Commissions.

decision that Petitioner failed the bar examination, and in the alternative, should result in an Order of this Court that the documentation be provided forthwith to Petitioner on remand.

In addition, the findings prepared by the Board of Commissioners do not in any sense of the word comport with the degree of detail and specificity required in a Court of law. To not require that body to specifically detail what its findings are on all of the issues raised at the hearing level makes it difficult for this Court to afford any significance at all to the Board's judgment. The Board of Bar Commissioners should be required on remand to delineate more specifically what its position is on each issue raised.

CONCLUSION

In conclusion, Petitioner has demonstrated that she has the degree of competency to practice law in the State of Utah by obtaining a 60.75 weighted average for the entire examination, which exceeds the weighted average of at least one successful applicant. Petitioner prays that her Petition for Admission to the Utah State Bar be granted.