1977

In the matter of the Application for Admission to the Utah State Bar of Deborah Lynn Tanner : Respondent Brief of Utah State Bar

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF NATURE OF CASE

The Utah State Bar Board of Commissioners declined to recommend admission to the Utah State Bar of petitioner, because of her failure to successfully pass the Bar Examination.

DISPOSITION BELOW

After review of petitioner's Bar Examination performance, the Board of Commissioners sustained their prior decision that petitioner be denied admission to the Utah State Bar at this time.

RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

Petitioner seeks an order from this Court granting her Petition for Admission to the Utah State Bar.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

The facts as stated in Petitioner's brief are essentially correct. One of the necessary criteria for passage of the Bar Examination is that an applicant receive scores of 60 or above on at least 12 of the 18 essay questions. Petitioner, having passed only 9 on those questions, was deemed to have failed to pass the Examination.

ARGUMENT

POINT I

THE REQUIREMENT THAT BAR APPLICANTS
PASS TWO/THIRDS OF THE BAR EXAMINATION'S
ESSAY QUESTIONS IS REASONABLE.

Petitioner argues that she should be admitted to the Bar because her weighted average for the entire examination was 60.75, above the minimum requirement of 60.00. While it is questionable that this score places petitioner "well above the 60.00 minimum passing score" (Brief at 3), it is used to advance the argument that it is unreasonable to also require passage of two-thirds of the essay questions in addition. Petitioner cites a recent decision of this Court for the proposition that the weighted average alone, should be criterion for examination passage. In re Guyon, (1977, unreported as far as the Bar can determine).

We dispute that the Guyon case stands for that proposition. The opinion was specifically limited to the particular facts arising from the July 1976 Bar Examination, and even then, produced a majority opinion of only two Justices, with two dissenting opinions, and one which partly dissented.

but concurred in the main opinion. Even the quotation included in Petitioner's brief includes the caveat that the decision results "under all circumstances upon the grading procedures of this July 1976 examination . . ." The last paragraph of the Guyon opinion clearly limits it to those particular facts:

In this opinion we have modified in this instance the formula adopted by the Bar Commissioners because, as heretofore stated, we believe it would be unreasonable not to do so. That is all this opinion stands for and is intended to stand for. (emphasis added)

The reasons for the requirement seem obvious - to demonstrate a broadly-based legal knowledge and expertise which will be utilized successfully and competently in future practice. Additionally, it serves to meet the purpose of Section 78-51-10 of UCA (1953), that requires each applicant to "have passed satisfactory examination upon the principles of common law, equity, criminal law and the statutes and practices of this state; . . ."

Despite the difficulties in administering and grading essay questions, it is nevertheless, an appropriate means of assessment and meets the test propounded by the United States Supreme Court in Schwabe v. Board of Bar Examiners of New Mexico, 353 U.S. 232 (1974), to wit:

A State can require high standards of qualification, such as good moral character or proficiency in its law before it admits an applicant to the bar, but any qualification must have a rational connection with the applicant's fitness or capacity to practice law. . . . Even in applying permissible standards, officers of a State cannot exclude an applicant when there is no basis for their finding that he fails to meet these standards, or when their action is invidiously discriminatory. 353 U.S. at 238-239.

The two-thirds rule provides some assurance that the applicant has the necessary knowledge and skills in a range of legal subjects. The overall weighted average does not necessarily provide the same assurance, because sufficient extremely high scores could offset the low ones. The requirement has a rational and reasonable relationship to the evaluation of the applicant's competency and should therefore, be retained.

In the facts here, Petitioner needed to pass three more essay questions to meet the criteria. The disparity is sufficient to reasonably raise doubts as to competency. The following dialogue reflects this:

MR. SORENSON: In this particular case, Miss Tanner passed 9 out of 18.

MR. DABNEY: That's correct.

MR. SORENSON: So, on half of the essay questions the Examiners felt that she didn't come up to the lowest level of competency to practice in those fields.

MR. DABNEY: That's correct.

(Transcript, p. 18,
l. 4-11).

The Petitioner's average score on all of the essay questions did not rise to the minimal 60.00 level. The overall weighted average exceeded 60.00 only because of the relatively high score achieved on the Multistate portion of the Examination. It must be assumed, therefore, that the Petitioner lacks those sorts of skills and knowledge tested in the essay portion of the exam and not reflected in the Multistate portion. The indications are that Petitioner is not presently qualified for admission to the Bar.

POINT II

PETITIONER'S ANSWERS TO THE EXAMINATION
WERE PROPERLY GRADED.

Petitioner attempts, in her brief, to second guess the Examiners in evaluating both the essay questions and the answers provided by Petitioner. This grants scant appreciation for the process engaged in by the Examiners in the preparation of the examination questions and subsequent grading of answers. The Bar urges that, except where there is a clear showing of arbitrariness, this Court adopt the findings of the Examiners and the Bar Commissioners. To do otherwise would simply duplicate the efforts already expended and make a mockery of the authority delegated by this Court to the Commission.

Petitioner's criticisms of the questions, model answers and grading results are so generalized as to be meaningless. These criticisms included, among others, the following: an issue is not reasonable in light of the facts; one model answer is like a table of contents; one question is too broad; one is poorly worded; and one contains too many issues. In looking at Petitioner's answers, the brief states that one "seems adequate" and another is at least "passable." Also, Petitioner states that several questions must be defective because a relatively high percentage of applicants either failed or barely passed those particular questions. Then, the brief criticizes another question where only two applicants, including petitioner, failed. It seems that there is no way to win in such a contest. The question is improper according

to Petitioner, if it is too difficult or if it is too easy. The grading process utilized by the Examiners is arduous and is described by Commissioners Sorenson, one of the Hearing Officers, in the transcript of proceedings, as follows:

MR. SORENSON: In other words, there are teams of three readers. If the first reader determines that that paper does not meet the standard as compared against the model answer and how they read that, then it's reviewed by two other readers, as well. So, it takes three readers, in essence, to read that question to come up with that score.

In these cases where there are 59, those three readers do not feel that the applicant has passed with sufficient minimum qualifications in that area to receive a passing score. So, it isn't just a single person that makes that arbitrary ruling. It's three of them.

So, while we are all human, as you indicated, nevertheless, there is the thinking of three minds that have been reading these things to arrive at a passing score, not just one.

(Tr., p. 30, l. 23-25, p. 30, l. 1-14).

Petitioner seems to imply, at least by the number of criticisms, that essay exams are, per se, unfair or arbitrary. This argument has been raised in other jurisdictions and found wanting. In Feldman v. State Board of Law Examiners, 438 F.2d 699 (8th Cir. 1971), the court found that "Nor can it be said that an essay type examination is inherently unfair or that such a test has no rational connection with an applicant's fitness or capacity to

practice law." at 705. A similar conclusion was arrived at in an earlier California case:

The Court California Supreme Court has stated in effect that it will not engage in a regrading of examination papers - as no federal court is likely to do either. It said in Staly v. State Bar, 17 Cal.2d 119, 121, 109 P.2d 667, that "Inability to pass the examinations, which are successfully passed by other applicants, will, of course, not be inquired into by the court." But it added that "if any dissatisfied applicant can show that he was denied passage of the state bar examinations through fraud, imposition or coercion . . . , this court will be willing to listen to his complaint." Chaney v. State Bar of California, 386 F.2d 992 (9th Cir. 1967)

A recent United States Supreme Court decision found that dismissal from medical school for academic insufficiencies required less in terms of due process hearing rights, than dismissal for academic reasons. "The difference calls for far less stringent procedural requirements in the case of academic dismissal." Board of Curators of U. of Missouri v. Horowitz, 435 U.S. ____ (1978), 55 L.Ed2d 124, 133. In applying that standard herein, one would assume that the close perusal and careful methodology of the Bar Examiners and the second review by the Board of Commissioners has sufficiently provided Petitioner with requisite due process. This Court ought to refuse to completely reassess the grading of the Bar Examiners, as urged by Petitioner, in the absence of supportable allegations of fraud, coercion or unwarranted discrimination. There are no such allegations herein.

POINT III

THE UTAH STATE BAR ADEQUATELY COMPLIED
WITH PETITIONER'S DISCOVERY REQUESTS AND
PETITIONER SUFFERED NO PREJUDICE THEREFROM.

Petitioner claims to have been hampered in these proceedings by the failure or refusal of the Bar to provide certain documentation. There are three areas where discovery was denied. Each will be discussed briefly, below.

First, Petitioner requested information as to how and why the correlation between the multi-state and the essay portions was arrived at. This request was irrelevant because the weighting system whereby the weighted average is arrived at, resulted in an average in excess of 60.00 the minimum passing level, for the Petitioner. Therefore, she was not harmed by that formula. Also, it was explained during the course of the hearing that the formula was mandated by this Court, having original jurisdiction and authority over admission to practice law in the state of Utah. (Tr. p. 1. 13-19).

Second, Petitioner requested and was denied copies of passing answers for all applicants for the questions which she failed. This was denied by the Bar because of the burdensome nature of the request and because it was irrelevant. Petitioner was provided with copies of the questions, model answers and her answers. This was sufficient to provide the needed information. Furthermore, because Petitioner has an unqualified right to take the Bar Examination again, she is not entitled to the requested docu-

504 F.2d 474 (7th Cir. 1974), the petitioner had the right to take the bar examination again. He had requested that he be able to see his examination answers and compare them with both model answers and successful answers. The court disagreed and found that "Given the availability of these alternative procedures, the requested procedures were not constitutionally required." at 478. The court further stated as follows:

Furthermore, merely seeing his examination or comparing it with others would not allow plaintiff to expose errors or discern his abilities. These procedural rights would be virtually meaningless unless plaintiff also was able to confront the bar examiners and obtain from explanations of their grades. Several hundred applicants fail the Illinois Bar Examination annually. Requiring an explanation for each of these applicants would place an intolerable burden upon the bar examiners. It also would place at an unfair disadvantage those applicants who were taking the exam for the first time. 504 F.2d at 478.

Therefore, failure to provide copies of passing answers was not unreasonable nor prejudicial under the circumstances.

Lastly, Petitioner requested minutes of the Board of Commissioners and the Examiners Committee relating to the Bar Examination. Petitioner was informed that the Examiners kept no minutes and that the Commission minutes, while available, contained only conclusions, not reasoning. Again, the information requested was irrelevant.

CONCLUSION